# IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

DARRYL MOODY, Appellant, vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

APPEAL NO. 94, 435

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

# AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. NORGARD ATTORNEY AT LAW FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 322059 P.O. BOX 811 BARTOW, FL 33831 (863)533-8556

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of 43 volumes, numbered I through XLIII and one supplemental volume. Volumes I through IX contain documents supplied by the Clerk and pretrial hearings. They will be referred to in the Brief as "C". Volumes IX through XLIII contain the trial transcripts. They will be referred to as "R". The supplemental volume will be referred to as "SR". The Appellant, Darryl Moody, will be referred to as Appellant or Mr. Moody.

The type font used in this brief is 14 point Times Roman.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Darryl Moody, was charged by Indictment on August 18, 1994. (V.I,C1-6) Mr. Moody was accused of the First Degree Murder of Scott Mitchell on May 16, 1994. (V.I,C1-6) In addition to the murder charge , Mr. Moody was also charged with three counts of Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon (Counts 3,6,and 7); Burglary (Count 1); Grand Theft (Count 2); Shooting at an Occupied Vehicle (Count 4), and Dealing in Stolen Property (Count 8). (V.I,C1-6) T h e defense filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence and Statements and a Supplemental Motion to Suppress Evidence and Statements. (V.I,C30-33,V.III,C467-471) Testimony was taken on December 21, 1995 and on April 26, 1996. (V.III,C342-38;V.V,C639-658) The motion to supress were denied by a written Order on June 25, 1996. (V.V,C778-784)

Additional motions to suppress evidence were filed on February 20, 1998. (VV,C805-808) These included a motion to suppress evidence seized from the search of an apartment on Lisa Lane (V.V,C805); a motion to suppress evidence seized from a Ford station wagon (V.VI,C809-814); and a motion to suppress evidence seized at the house of Mr. Moody's mother. (V.VI,C815-819). A hearing on these motions was held on February 26, 1998. (V.VI,C820-896) The motions were denied. (V.VI,C852-55) Mr. Moody also filed a Motion in Limine to exclude testimony about a prior incident in which he was alleged to have pointed a gun at someone at a nightclub. (V.I,C48-50) The trial court excluded any testimony in the case in chief that Mr. Moody pointed the gun at someone, but allowed testimony that he had the gun in his possession. (V.III,C389-462)

Counts 3, 6, and 7, the charges of Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon, were severed from the other counts for trial. (V.I,C46-47;83) A Motion to Sever the charge of Burglary was filed on April 12, 1996, and was denied on June 5, 1996. (V.IV,C595-596;V.V,C777)

The State filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Evidence of Other Crimes on March 2, 1998.(V.VI,C899) The defense filed a Motion in Limine on March 10, 1998, seeking the exclusion of the evidence listed in the Notice of Intent. (V.VI,C962-3) A Motion in Limine regarding another event was also filed. (V.VI,C965)

Mr. Moody was tried by jury from March 23 through May 7, 1998, before the Honorable Susan Roberts, Circuit Judge. (V.X - V.XLIII) The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on Counts 1,2,4,5, and 8 on May 7, 1998.(V.VII,C1034)

A Motion for New Trial was filed on May 15, 1998. (V.VII,C1035-1040) The State's Response to the Motion for New Trial was filed on May 19, 1998. (V.VII,C1060-1092) The motion was argued on October 5 and 14,

1998.(V.VIII,C1124-1181). The motion was denied. (V.VIII,C1188)

The penalty phase was conducted on May 28, 1998. (V.XLI-III) The jury returned an advisory recommenation of death by a 9-3 vote on May 28, 1998. (V.VII,C1095)

The court conducted a <u>Spencer</u> hearing on October 5, 1998, where it was agreed that written memorandums would be submitted in lieu of argument or testimony. (V.VIII,C1109-1192) Mr. Moody's memorandum in support of a life sentence, the State's sentencing memorandum in support of a death sentence, a letter from Mr. Moody, and examples of Mr. Moody's artwork were also submitted. (V.VIII,C1221-1269;V.IX,C1270-1337)

Following the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, a Motion to Interview a Juror was filed by the defense. (V.VIII,C1155-1158) A hearing on that motion was held on October 9, 1998 and October 14, 1998. The motion was denied. (V.VIII,C1159- 1195)

Mr. Moody was sentenced on October 20, 1998. (V.VIII,C1196-1204). The State and the defense agreed that the scoresheet points totalled 84.2. (V.VIII,C1201) The court imposed a sentence of death on Count 3 for the First Degree Murder. (V.VIII,C1202;1206;1220) The court also sentenced Mr. Moody to five years in prison on Count 1 for Burglary; fifteen years in prison on Count 4 for Shooting at an Occupied Vehicle; fifteen years on Count 8 for Dealing in Stolen Property. Each sentence was to run consecutively to the prior sentence. (V.VIII,C1203;1207-1214) The sentence was a guidelines departure based upon the conviction for First Degree Murder. (V.VIII,C1203,1220).

A written sentencing order was filed contemporaneously with the oral pronouncement of sentence on October 20, 1998. (V.VIII,C1215) The trial court found three aggravating factors: (1) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under sentence of imprisonment; given some weight; (2) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a burglary; given some weight; and (3) the crime was committed to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest; given great weight. (V.VIII,R1215-1216) The trial court found the statutory mitigating factor that the defendant was an accomplice to the crime and not responsible as the primary motivating person. This mitigating factor was given little weight. Also considered as statutory mitigating factors in Mr. Moody's background were (1) the defendant was raised in relative poverty (little weight); (2) the defendant suffered a seizure disorder from birth that included grand mal seizures (some weight); (3) the defendant made no effort to avoid the police prior to his arrest (some weight); (4) the defendant sufferered from a learning disability (some weight); (5) the defendant's educational experience was impaired (some weight); (6) positive courtroom behavior (little weight); (7) the defendant was a good worker despite few

job skills (little weight), (8) the defendant has no history of violent crime (some weight); (9) the defendant is capaable of forming positive and loyal relationships (some weight); (10) the defendant lost his father at an early age (little weight). (Vol.VIII,R1217-1218) With respect to non-statutory mitigating factors the court found: (1) the defendant has used his life as an example to his family in how not to lead your life (some weight); (2) the instant offense was not premeditated (not established); (3) no evidence the defendant initiated the shooting (little weight); (4) the defendant is being held solely responsible for the death although others were involved (little weight); (5) excellent behavior while incarcerated (not sufficiently established); (6) the defendant has exhibited the ability to be rehabilitated (little weight); (7) the defendant is a talented artist (little weight). (V.VIII,C1219)

Mr. Moody later entered a plea of no contest to the three counts of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (Counts 3,6,and 7). (SR13-14) Mr. Moody was sentenced to 60 months in prison on each charge with each sentence to run concurrent. (SR16-17) Mr. Moody specifically reserved his right to appeal the rulings of the trial court on the motion to suppress and motion in limine. (SR.11-12)

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on November 12, 1998.(V.IX,C1342)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The body of Christopher Scott Mitchell was found in his truck in an orange grove located near the intersection of 80 Foot Road and Mud Lake Road on May 16, 1994. (V.XX,R1849-1853;V.XXIII2288-2293) The truck was parked on a dirt road leading into the grove, and a green Buick was parked in front of it. (Vol.XX,R1856-59) The driver's side window of the truck was open, and the passenger window closed. (V.XXI,R1891) The brake lights of the truck were on.(V.XXVI,R2859) The glove box was open. (V.XXI,R1899) Mr. Mitchell was deceased at the time the paramedics arrived at 2:23 p.m.. (V.XXVI,R2826)

A shotgun was found behind the seat of the truck. (V.XXI,R1899) Also collected from the truck were divorce papers and a cellular phone. (V.XXI,R1904)

Swabbings for possible gunshot residue were taken from Mr. Mitchell's hands. (V.XXI,R1894) An autopsy found that Mr. Mitchell had two gunshot wounds to the head, one on the the right side of his forehead and one on the left temple. (V.XXVII,R2934) The wound on the right forehead had gunshot residue around it, indicating close-range firing. (V.XXVII,R2935) The wound on the left temple had no soot, stippling, or residue. (V.XXVII,R2940) Two projectiles were removed from the body. (V.XXII,R2144) Exhibit 8 was the bullet recovered from the right forehead, and Exhibit 9 was the bullet recovered from the wound to the left temple.

(V.XXVII,R2948-9) The wound tract for Exhibit 8 was from front to back and left to right. (V.XXVII,R2949) There was no way to determine which shot was fired first.
(V.XXVII,R2950) Either wound, in and of itself, would cause death.
(V.XXVII,R2951)

Mr. Mitchell was leaning over against the driver's door. (V.XX,R1863) A cellular phone was on his lap. (V.XX,R1863) Mr. Mitchell's right foot was on the brake pedal. (V.XX,R1864)

A bullet struck the left front fender of the truck, ricocheted off the fender and struck the windshield. (Vol.XX,R1861-62) A second bullet hole was found just below the handle of the driver's door. (V.XX,R1862) A bullet was found in between the outside of the door and the inside of the door. (V.XXI,R1904) No bullets or casings were found in the grove.(V.XXI,R1896)

Tire impressions and shoe impressions were made from various prints found around both vehicles. (V.XX,R1859-60;V.XXI,R1876-81;1958-1982) Several tire impressions appeared to show that the truck had backed away from the Buick. (V.XX,R1866) Comparisons between the plaster casts of the shoe impressions were compared with photographs of the impressions. (VXXI,R1982-1994)

The tires from the Buick were missing. (V.XX,R1867) The trunk lock had been removed. (V.XX,R1866) The interior of the car was also damaged, including a broken

steering column, dangling wires, and the glove box was opened. (V.XX,R1868) The stereo and speakers were missing from the car. (V.XXI,R1902) The interior and exterior of the Buick were dusted for latent prints. (V.XXI,R1908-12) Three items removed from the Buick (a bottle of brake fluid, a green light, and a cassette tape box) were processed for latent prints. (V.XXI,R1926) Twenty-two rounds of .380 caliber ammunition were found in a paper bag on the right front floorboard of the Buick. (V.XXI,R2012) A piece of yellow paper with a phone number and the name "JDAWG" was found in the car as well. (V.XXI,R2013) No latent prints were found on any of these items. (V.XXI,R2012-2020)

Hubert Hurley was living with Scott Mitchell in 1994. (V.XXIII,R2214) On May 16, Scott left the house early to check on a picking crew, then came back to the house around 10:00a.m.. (V.XXIII,R2216) Close to noon Mr. Mitchell left to return to the grove and check on the crew. (V.XXIII,R2216)

Eraclio Martinez and his crew harvested fruit for Preacher Mitchell. (V.XXIII,R2328) On May 16, 1994, he and his crew were harvesting fruit at the grove on Mud Lake Road. (V.XXIII,R2329) They had been picking fruit since around six a.m. and had seen Scott Mitchell around 8 a.m. (V.XIII,R2331) Mr. Martinez saw Scott Mitchell a second time around 11 a.m. (V.XXIII,R2332) Scott Mitchell drove into the grove and asked if Mr. Martinez had seen his father, Preacher Mitchell.

(V.XXIII,R2332)

Mr. Martinez remembered seeing two vehicles enter the grove from Mud Lake Road around 11 to 11:30 a.m., after Scott Mitchell had been there the second time. (V.XXIII 2333) One of the cars was long. Both cars appeared to be four-doors. (V.XXIII,R2334;2349) Neither vehicle belonged to the Mitchells. (V.XXIII,R2335) Mr. Martinez did not see the occupants and could not say how many people were in the cars. (V.XXIII,R2337;2349)

Michael Stenger operates a grove service and did some work for Mr. Mitchell's father, Preacher Mitchell. (V.XXIII,R2229) On May 16, Mr. Stenger knew that a grove belonging to the Mitchell's located on Mud Lake Road was being picked. (V.XXIII,R2230) Between 1:30 and 2:00 p.m. on May 16, Mr. Stenger received a radio call from Preacher Mitchell, telling him that Scott had been shot. (V.XXIII,R2236) Mr. Stenger rushed to the grove at Mud Lake Road. (V.XXIII,R2241) He found Scott Mitchell's truck, in the grove. The truck was running. (V.XXIII,R2241) Mr. Stenger turned off the truck, but touched nothing else. (V.XXIII,R2242)

Retha and Johnny Cotton lived on 80 Foot Road in 1994. (V.XXI,R2426) Mrs. Cotton was outside by her mailbox between 10:30 a.m. and noon when she saw a silver Cadillac and a green car pass by her. (V.XXIV,R2430) The cars were traveling south.

(V.XXIV,R2430) The green car looked like a Buick the Cottons used to own and the Cadillac looked like an antique. (V.XXIV,R2431-32) Each car was being driven by a black male. (V.XXIV,R2434) Mrs. Cotton believed there was another person in one of the cars, but she could not say for sure. (V.XXIV,R2457) Mr. Cotton remebered seeing a Cadillac with gold wheels, but no other cars. (V.XXIV,R2484)

Later in the day Mrs. Cotton heard a single gunshot. (V.XXIV,R2437) She heard the shot around 1 p.m. It sounded like it came from a shotgun. (V.XXIV,R2477)

Mr. and Mrs. Cotton later identified a Cadillac in a salvage yard as being the Cadillac they saw that day on 80 Foot Road. (V.XXIV,R2430;2490) They recognized the gold rims and the up and down taillights. (V.XXIV,R2445,2490)

Terry Stevens got stuck in the sand just off Sand Lake Road on May 16. (V.XXIV,R2501) As he was walking back to 80 Foot Road he remembered passing a picking crew in an adjacent grove. (V.XXIV,R2504) Two cars passed him as he walked along 80 Foot Road. (V.XXIV,R2506) One was a large four-door GM product and the other was like a Monte Carlo or a Riviera. (V.XXIV,R2507) The larger car was green, but Stevens could not recall the color of the other car. (V.XXIV,R2508) The smaller car was being driven by a black male. Stevens did not notice the other driver. (V.XXIV,R2509)

Janet Stinson was taking lunch to her husband in the groves in May 1994.

### 11

(V.XXIX,R3358) She saw a gray Cadillac parked at the intersection of Mud Lake Road and 80 Foot Road. The passenger door was open and she saw a black man with his shirt off sitting on the passenger side. (V.XXIX,R3359;3366) She saw only a profile. The right side of the man's ear looked big. (V.XXIX,R3369) She saw a green Monte Carlo in the grove. (V.XXIX,R3363) When Mrs. Stinson, turned around to try and find her husband in the groves, she again briefly saw the Cadillac, the man, and the left side of his face. (V.XXIX,R3371) She remembered short braids and a large ear. (V.XXIX,R3371-3) Mrs. Stinson could not describe jewelry, clothing, or facial hair because she did not get that good of a look. (V.XXX,R3406) When Mrs. Stinson drove back by after dropping off the lunch with her husband, the car was gone. (V.XXIX,R3376)

Mrs. Stinson did see a black Bronco, and a man flagged her to stop. (V.XXIX,R3377) It was Preacher Mitchell. (V.XXIX,R3378) Mrs. Stinson then saw Scott Mitchell in his truck. (V.XXIX,R3379) He was deceased. Mrs. Stinson had seen Scott Mitchell earlier in the day, around noon, driving and talking on his car phone. (V.XXIX,R3385) He was headed toward 80 Foot Road at the time. (V.XXIX,R3385) Mrs. Stinson was asked to look at a photograph book. (V.XXVII,R3012) She selected one photograph based upon hairstyle, but told the officer that she had not seen

12

the man's face. (V.XXIX,R3391) Mrs. Stinson told the police she was not real sure that it was the same man. (V.XXIX,R3391) Mrs. Stinson went to an impound lot and did identify the Cadillac as the one she had seen on the road. (V.XXIX,R3388)

During the ride to the impound lot Mrs. Stinson was shown a photopak by Detective Paul Schaill. (V.XXIX,R3323) Mrs. Stinson did not recognize anyone. Dexter Moody's photo was in the photopak. (V.XXIX,R3324) Mrs. Stinson was then shown a second photopak, which contained Mr. Moody's photo. (V,XXIX,R3324) She selected Mr. Moody's photo as being that which most resembled the individual she saw in the car on 80 Foot Road. (V.XXIX,R3324) Mrs. Stinson based this on the hair style and large ears. (V.XXIX,R3324) Detective Schaill did not consider this a positive identification and it was not based upon the face of the individual. (V.XXIX,R3333)

Mrs. Stinson admitted that the day before her testimony she was shown the same photopaks again. (V.XXX,R3412) At this time she selected Dexter Moody's photograph as being the one that most resembled the man she saw in the grove and not

Mr. Moody's. (V.XXX,R3412) Mrs. Stinson also admitted that the black man she saw coming in and out of court testifying (Bruce Foster) also resembled the man in the grove. (V.XXX,R3413)

Teresa Carmichael was living in Bartow in April, 1994. (V.XXII,R2181) At that time she owned a Cadillac that was red or rose colored with a white top.

#### 13

(V.XXII,R2182) On the morning of April 10th, she discovered that her car had been stolen from her home. (V.XXII,R2182) Inside the car were baseball cards, cassette tapes, a tennis bracelet, and a handgun. (V.XXII,R2184) The car was recovered a week later near a grove off Lake Bella Road. It was taken to a salvage yard because it was totalled. (V.XXII,R2190;2197) A Buick station wagon was found about 100 feet from Mrs. Carmichael's car.. (V.XXII,R2199) Lake Bella Road is close to Freidlander and Lisa Lane. (V.XXXV,R4359-60)

Mrs. Carmichael testified that her handgun was a Rossi .38 Special that was purchased in 1990. (V.XXII,R2185) Its serial number was Z826832. (V.XXII,R2186) Exhibit 236 was identifed as being Mrs. Carmichael's gun. (V.XXII,R2187)

In May 1994, Bryant Upshaw had a 1981 green Buick Regal with a black halftop mag, wheels, BF Goodrich tires, and white spray paint on the hood. (V.XXVII,R3033) The car was stolen from his home in Orlando on May 15th or 16th, 1994. (V.XXVII,R3034; V.XXVIII,R3063-3069) A UNLV hat, a hat from his employer, a piece of paper with "JDAWG" written on it, numerous .380 ammunition rounds, and photographs of himself and his children were in the car when it was stolen. (V.XXVII,R3038-9) Mr. Upshaw's tool box was also taken. (V.XXVII,R3049) Many of the items missing from Mr. Upshaw's Buick were later found in a Ford station wagon being driven by Mr. Moody. Mr. Upshaw's Buick was

### 14

found in the grove near Scott Mitchell's truck. (V.XXXV,R4321;XXVII,R3035)

Mr. Upshaw identified Exhibit 254, a Davis P-380 handgun, as being his gun. (V.XXVII,R3041) The gun had been in the Buick the night it was stolen. (V.XXVII,R3041;V.XXVIII,R3069)

On Monday, May 23, 1994, Officers Terry Dowdy and Eugene Bly were on patrol in an unmarked vehicle in the north section of Lake Wales. (V.XXIII,R2357) Around 4 p.m. they saw the Appellant, Darryl Moody, driving a faded yellow, older model Ford station wagon. (V.XXIII,R2359;V.XXIV,R2387) Officer Dowdy stopped Mr. Moody. (V.XXIII,R2360) Mr. Moody was given a citation for driving with a suspended license and the yellow station wagon was impounded. (V.XXIII,R23661) The station wagon was registered to an Emanuel Coleman and Jerome Leeks, but was being purchased by Mr. Moody. (V.XXIII,R2372;V.XXVII,R2900)

Prior to towing the car an inventory search of the car was done. (V.XXIII,R2361) Officer Dowdy found a zippered bag which contained a handgun and clip (Exhibit 254) in between the seat and running board. (V.XXIII,R2363;V.XXIV,R2392) The serial number on the handgun was run and it came back that the gun was stolen. (V.XXIII,R2370) Several .380 caliber live rounds were also found in the car. (V.XXIV,R2412)

Officer Eugene Bly arrested Mr. Moody at the home of Alwyn Leeks on May

#### 15

24, 1994. (V.XXXIV,R4203) Mr. Moody was near the station wagon when he was arrested. (V.XXXIV,R4205).

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