IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DARRYL MOODY,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC94435

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813)873-4739 Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

While it is true that appellant did not leave the Polk County area, even after being stopped by Officers Dowdy and Bly and that Dexter Moody fled before police could effectuate his arrest when they arrested appellant on May 23, 1994, that fact is misleading in the absence of additional clarifying points, the most important of which was opportunity on the day of arrest. When appellant was stopped in his vehicle the afternoon of May 23 (a week after the

⁸Defense soil expert witness explained on cross-examination that it would be too much speculation to say that the Sierra shoes were not anywhere close to the area where the soil samples were collected (Vol. XXXII, TR 3878).

Mitchell murder) he would have had no reason to flee up to that point since there was no connecting him to that crime. Obviously his concern began at that point - as he indicated to others - since he left the Upshaw stolen gun in that car and it was the Upshaw stolen car abandoned at the murder scene. But it was only a day later - on the 24th - that law enforcement had put it all together, obtained search warrants and placed the residence on surveillance. Appellant was arrested that day when execution of the search warrants resulted in discovery of the other stolen property. Dexter Moody was simply luckier. When the police arrived he was able to leave unobtrusively on a bicycle (Vol. XXVIII, TR 3151). Both appellant and Dexter Moody, when subsequently apprehended, waived Miranda and talked freely in denying culpability (Vol. XXXVI, TR 4428-29). Consequently, that appellant was apprehended without an escape attempt is not significant. Once competent evidence has been submitted to the jury - as here - determining the credibility of witnesses is solely within the province of the jury. <u>Woods</u>, 733 So.2d at 986; <u>Davis v. State</u>, 703 So.2d 1055, 1060 (Fla. 1997); Terry v. State, 668 So.2d 954, 962, n. 9 (Fla. 1996); Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284, 290 (Fla. 1990); Carter v. State, 560 So.2d 1166, 1168 (Fla. 1990). This Court should affirm.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING AN ALTERNATE JUROR TO BE SUBSTITUTED FOR A JUROR WHO BECAME ILL AFTER DELIBERATIONS HAD BEGUN?

(A) <u>No relief is available as the claim is both procedurally</u> <u>barred and was invited by the defense</u>.

The record is abundantly clear that the replacement of juror Fagan with juror Martin has not been preserved for appellate review by contemporaneous objection below and by argument therein that substitution would be improper. See generally Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990); Mordenti v. State, 630 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1994); San Martin v. State, 705 So.2d 1337, 1345 (Fla. 1997) ("we note that San Martin's intelligence level was never argued to the trial court as a basis for suppressing the statements. Thus, that issue is not available for appellate review."); Hazen v. State, 700 So.2d 1207, 1211 (Fla. 1997) (issue regarding admissibility of witness' statements about Hazen staring during a pre-trial hearing procedurally barred for lack of a contemporaneous objection, although asserted in motion in limine prior to witness' testimony); Lindsey v. State, 636 So.2d 1327, 1328 (Fla. 1994) (When the sister testified some three witnesses after the proffer of Williams Rule evidence, Lindsey did not object specifically to her testimony about the car accident and claim was procedurally barred. Because Lindsey failed to object to the testimony when given and on the ground now argued, he failed to

preserve this issue for review.); Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988) (challenge to introduction of similar fact evidence "is not properly before this Court because of defense counsel's failure to object to the testimony at trial. Even when a prior motion in limine has been denied, the failure to object at the time collateral crime evidence is introduced waives the issue for appellate review.") (emphasis supplied); Lawrence v. State, 614 So.2d 1092, 1094 (Fla. 1993) (same); Norton v. State, 709 So.2d 87 (Fla. 1997) (appellant's motion for mistrial at the close of the witness' testimony insufficient to preserve issue for appellate review); Pomeranz v. State, 703 So.2d 465, 470 (Fla. 1997) (failure to object to collateral crime evidence when it is introduced violates contemporaneous objection rule and waives the issue for appellate review); Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1994) (failure to object at time collateral crimes evidence is introduced waives issue for appellate review, even where prior motion in limine relating to that evidence has been denied); Feller v. State, 637 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1994); Harmon v. State, 527 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1988); Perez v. State, 717 So.2d 605 (Fla. 3DCA 1998) (opinion granting rehearing holding that following the Criminal Reform Act of 1996 the appellant's failure to preserve the Williams-Rule claim by contemporaneous objection precluded reversal on appeal); Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186, 195 (Fla. 1997) (failure to renew objection contemporaneously at the time of the testimony precludes

review); <u>Zack v. State</u>, 753 So.2d 9, 22 (Fla. 1999). See also <u>Goodwin v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 537, 544 (Fla. 1999):

> Our appellate cases are filled with examples of errors that are unpreserved either because no objection was made⁶ or because the objection was not specific.⁷ If the error is "invited,"⁸ or the defendant "opens the door" to the error, the appellate court will not consider the error a basis for reversal.⁹ In addition, if it is alleged that evidence has been improperly excluded and the appellate record does not establish that a proffer has been made, the lack of an adequate record will be grounds to affirm.¹⁰ Indeed, our case law is filled with procedural pitfalls that may preclude an error from being considered on appeal. (footnotes omitted)

See also <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 638 So.2d 920, 926 (Fla. 1994) (defendant waived objection to erroneous instruction by defense counsel's failure to object to curative procedure); <u>Sexton v. State</u>, _____ So.2d , 25 Fla. L. Weekly S818 (Fla. 2000).

Moreover, the instant claim was not only unobjected to; the asserted error was requested as a basis for relief by trial defense counsel. A challenge to such invited error should not be countenanced. See <u>McPhee v. State</u>, 254 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1971) (defendant estopped from asserting that trial judge committed fundamental when it was defendant's motion which induced the erroneous action taken); <u>State v. Belien</u>, 379 So.2d 446, 447 (Fla. 3 DCA 1980) ("In other words, 'gotcha!' maneuvers will not be permitted to succeed in criminal, any more than in civil litigation"); <u>Goodwin</u>, supra. Consider the following

representations made by trial defense counsel below:

MR. TOWARD: Your Honor, I really thought yesterday when I was doing closing argument and even a little bit this morning when she walked in she looked ill. The look in her face and the look in her eyes looked very stressed to me.

If she's indicating to this Court that she is not feeling well and is not mentally and physically, or physically, capable of continuing, I would suggest, and in fact I would request on behalf of the defense that she be sent home and Ms. Martin be brought in because we run the risk at this point in time of continuing on for several more hours or whatever it's going to take and then losing her anyway. If we're going to lose her, I'd just as soon do it now, get the alternate in and let's continue.

THE COURT: Well, I checked on Ms. Martin because I didn't know but what it might not come to that, and I've spoken to her and she said she could come back today.

MR. TOWARD: I would request that we do that. I'm concerned about Ms. Fagan based upon what I saw yesterday and to a lesser degree this morning. I didn't see her as long this morning. But we could be just throwing good time after bad if we try to push this thing forward with her and we end up losing her anyway. (Vol. XLI, TR 5310-11)

+ +

MR. TOWARD: I'm still inclined to request that a substitution be made.

+ +

MR. TOWARD: Your Honor, my observation of Ms. Fagan is that in all likelihood she is very close to having some sort of nervous breakdown. I believe that she is just about mentally shut down and is totally incapable of serving on this jury.

THE COURT: You do? MR. TOWARD: Yes, ma'am, I do. THE COURT: Well, report for the record what you see that makes you come to that conclusion.

MR. TOWARD: She was unable to focus on you, she was crying, she could not respond verbally to any question. The question that she did respond to was just about unintelligible and the court reporter couldn't even get it down. Even when the words were articulated the thought itself made very little sense, although I think we were able to gather that she said whenever she gets in stressful situations she usually has to rest.

This apparently is not the first time that this sort of thing has happened to her. She indicated that she has reactions of this sort whenever she is in stressful situations.

She, to me, just mentally was unable to cope even with the simplest of questions that were being posed to her and could not even verbally respond. All she did was just nod or shake her head and she wasn't even doing that very well. (TR. 5317-18)

+ +

TOWARD: Your Honor, that may be MR. strong language but I think what it amounts to is I think that she is on the verge of being completely incapacitated for the purpose of serving as a juror because that requires a level of mental acuity and thinking and rationalizing and being able to assert your position, whatever that position might be, pro, con, or some place in the middle, and I do not see that Ms. Fagan is able to assert anything to anyone about any decision she's made concerning this evidence. And in that regard to me she is rendered totally ineffective and unfit to serve as a juror. (TR. 5319-20)

When the Court agreed juror Fagan could not continue to serve, counsel answered that he had no objection to the Court's excusing her (TR 5325). Subsequently at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing on October 5,

1998, defense counsel repeated (Vol VIII, R 1166):

First of all, I acknowledge that the record reflects that it was the defense's request that Ms. Fagan be released and Ms. Martin be brought in due to her obvious physical condition. I think I even noted that based upon my observations I was fearful she was going to have a mental breakdown or a stroke. I was that concerned about her welfare. So I acknowledge that.

(B) <u>There is no fundamental error present</u>:

Appellant is not entitled to relief under Rule 3.280 R.Cr.P. Subsection (a) provides for the discharge of an alternate juror in a non-capital case when the jury retires to consider its verdict and subsection (b) explains that in a capital case the alternate juror(s) will be excused with instructions to return for an additional hearing should the defendant be convicted of a capital offense. In Sotola v. State, 436 So.2d 1001 (Fla. 5 DCA 1983) - a non-capital case - the district court ruled that there was no constitutional impediment to substitution of a juror after commencement of deliberations "and it is not fundamental error to permit it in the absence of timely and proper objection". Id. at 1009. See also <u>United States v. Phillips</u>, 664 So.2d 971 (5th Cir. 1981) (substitution of an alternate juror after deliberations have begun is not so inherently coercive that a per se reversal rule is warranted); Accord, U.S. v. Register, 182 F.3d 820, 843 (11th Cir. 1999); People v. Collins, 17 Cal. 3d 687, 131 Cal. Rptr. 782, 552 P2d 742 (1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1077 (1977); U.S. v.

<u>Acevedo</u>, 141 F.3d 1421, 1425, n. 7 (11th Cir. 1998); <u>U.S. v.</u> <u>Guevera</u>, 823 F.2d 446, 448 (11th Cir. 1987); <u>United States v.</u> <u>Kopituck</u>, 690 F.2d 1289, 1308-1310 (11th Cir. 1982).

The trial court in the instant case agreed with the defense suggestion that when alternate juror Martin returned that the jury should be told to begin their deliberations anew and they were so instructed (Vol. XLI, TR 5327-29).

Moody relies on McGill v. State, 468 So.2d 356 (Fla. 3 DCA 1985) and appellee submits such reliance is unavailing. There, an alternate juror was seated after being discharged and the jury had begun its deliberations. Before leaving the alternate told the judge ex parte that he would have found the defendant guilty. Forty minutes later a juror was discharged because he was not sufficiently fluent in English to discharge his duties as a juror. The defendant refused to stipulate to a continuation of the deliberations with only five jurors and the court granted the state's motion to seat the discharged alternate juror over defense objection. On appeal, the district court determined that on the facts of the case reversal was required because of the alternate juror's having formed an opinion on guilt before joining the deliberation and expressing that opinion prior to entering into deliberations. The alternate juror sub judice did not have or express any opinion prior to deliberations.

Appellant's claim that the court violated same "condition"

with defense counsel is meritless. When the trial court ruled that following the emergency medical technician report that juror Fagan was manifestly unable to carry out her responsibilities as a juror (TR 5325), the court wondered whether it was appropriate to give alternate juror Martin any instruction. Defense counsel was comfortable with the fact that she had simply gone home and gone to bed without talking to anyone or doing anything. Defense counsel suggested that on Martin's arrival they adjourn and allow the jurors to go to the motel room. Counsel did not mind if the court asked the jurors and counsel even indicated the jury "may want to take a time to kind of bring her up to date or talk to her about what's been going on and that sort of thing" (TR 5326-27). The defense agreed it was "fine" for the court to ask the jury what they wanted to do, ask if they wanted to adjourn to their respective motel rooms for the evening or to continue (TR 5327). The court agreed with the prosecutor's suggestion to tell the jury to begin their deliberations anew and leave it up to them whether to continue or recess that night (TR 5328). The court instructed the jury to start over again and the options included deliberating, have supper or start in the morning. The jury retired to the jury room, returned to the court and announced a desire to continue for a little bit and the court provided dinner menus. The jury returned with its verdict at 8:45 p.m. (TR 5329-30). There was no violation of any defense condition.

Appellant relies on <u>United States v. Lamb</u>, 529 F.2d 1153 (9th Cir. 1975) which involved a substitution over defense objection. The substitution occurred after the return of a guilty verdict which the judge refused to accept because of his belief that the verdict was inconsistent with the instruction given. After twentynine minutes of deliberations the newly-constituted jury found defendant guilty a second time and the appellate court commented on the inherent coercive effect upon a juror who joins a jury that has already agreed on the accused's guilt.⁹

As this Court noted in <u>Sanford v. Rubin</u>, 237 So.2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970), fundamental error which can be considered on appeal without objection in the lower court is error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action. The Appellate Court shall exercise its discretion under the doctrine of fundamental error very guardedly. As explained, supra, the substitution of an alternate juror - as requested and

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